APPEAL BRIEF IN A CIVIL CASE
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
Jul 29 2024
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
The order of Judge R. Lawton McIntosh
Appellate Case No. 2024-000455

Dorothy Pierce, Appellant,

V.

Donna Carol Moore, Gregory Allan Pierce, Jared Adam Pierce, Respondents

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Original Filing Date: July 16, 2024

Revised Filing Date: July 28, 2024

I.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Probate Court have jurisdiction to order a settlement while an appeal on the validity of the will of Doyle Elton Pierce was pending?
2. Was the Private Family Settlement Order executed in compliance with SCRCP Rule 43(k)?
3. Did the personal relationship between Judge Singleton and the respondents, and the unfair actions against the appellant, constitute judicial misconduct under South Carolina law?
4. Did the judge violate the appellant's due process rights when he retaliated against the appellant for filing an appeal?
5. Did the judge violate the appellant's right to property when he threatened to evict the appellant from her residence through a newly appointed special administrator?
6. Did the judge violate the appellant's rights to a fair hearing and due process by repeatedly mentioning that "when appellant's appeal is denied"?
7. Did the judge abuse his discretion when he held the appellant in civil contempt without jurisdiction?
8. Did Judge Singleton violate the South Carolina Judicial Code of Conduct, Canon 3B(12), by acting as a mediator or arbitrator in settlement negotiations?
9. Did the Probate Judge have jurisdiction to amend his order to remove the appellant from the personal representative position after the 10-day timeline under SCRCP Rule 59(e)?
10. Did the Probate Judge violate the family agreement when he interrupted and stopped the auction without jurisdiction?
11. Did the appellant violate any term of the settlement order that warranted her removal as personal representative?
12. Did the Amended Private family order Violated Section 62-3-805 of the South Carolina Code?
13. Did the Probate Court err in including unauthorized and undisclosed clauses in the final settlement agreement?
14. Did the judge have jurisdiction to amend his October 12, 2023, order after the appellant appealed it?

15. Did Judge Singleton have jurisdiction to order the appellant to withdraw her appeal?
16. Did the Circuit Court judge violate the appellant's due process rights by not allowing the appellant to make her oral presentation during the March 14, 2024, hearing?
17. Did the Circuit Court judge err by not allowing the appellant's evidence but accepting the evidence presented by the respondent's counsel?
18. Did the Circuit Court judge err by dismissing the appellant's appeal on unsupported grounds of statutory defect?
19. Did the respondent's attorney, Richard Hunt McDuff, violate ethical rules with his disparaging comment about the appellant's brief, and should he be subject to sanctions and disciplinary action?
20. Prayer For Relief.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Dorothy Pierce is appealing the final judgments of the Circuit court in the above-listed case to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Contrary to the stipulated rules, the settlement order in this case was executed in absolute non-compliance and in total disregard of SCRCP; 43(k).

Appellant states the following violations that affect the validity of the Family Settlement Order:

1. Before the Probate Judge Danny Singleton pressured the parties to settle, there was already an appeal pending in the Court of Appeals under appellate cause number 2021-001552 in the matter of Doyle Elton Pierce regarding the Validity of the Will which removed the jurisdiction of the Probate Court to make an order distributing the estate assets without the signatures of the parties.
2. At the beginning of the status conference, the judge stated that the gathering in the court on October 11, 2023, was not an open court. It was simply a discussion to find out if the parties could reach a settlement in the case. For SCRCP Rule 43(k) to be implemented under an open-court guideline, the agreement must be made in open court. Agreements made on this day are not binding under SCRCP Rule 43(k).
3. The judge further stated during this non-open court gathering that the parties would have to sign the Family Settlement Agreement. No parties signed the Settlement Agreement other than the judge, who solely and unjustly ordered the Settlement Agreement.
4. The judge clearly stated in court that the agreement would be binding once it was signed by the parties. The judge further told respondent Jared Adam Pierce before he exited the unknown app that respondent Donna Carol Moore called him upon that “then you would be mailed a document to sign and return in a certain amount of time.” No party signed the Agreement. No document was mailed to respondent Adam Pierce to sign. The attorney for respondent Jared Adam Pierce’s suggestion of executing the agreement under SCRCP Rule 43(k) was not adopted by the parties or the judge. The Agreement was not executed pursuant to SCRCP Rule 43(k).
5. During the judge-mediated settlement, Judge Singleton put undue pressure on the appellant to settle and made statements which amounted to judicial misconduct. This pressure led to a hurried acceptance of the partial agreement and jeopardized the voluntariness of the agreement. There was no free will.
6. There was no court reporter that recorded the proceedings to qualify the order under open court.

7. Several clauses were added to the final order that were not agreed upon or declared in an open court and were signed by the judge without the signatures of the parties or their counsels. SCRCF Rule 43(k) was NOT met. The settlement would not be enforceable under SCRCF Rule 43(k).
8. Appellant objected to terms of the agreement prior to its entry into the court record. The judge signed the settlement with clear knowledge that the parties had not reached an agreement and that there were serious unresolved issues.
9. The appellant sent her own version of the order draft which included some essential clauses that would befit a contested estate and proper property description, but the parties and the judge refused to incorporate appellant's submissions. There was no meeting of minds.
10. The judge and the opposing parties decided on what clauses would be added and what would not be added to the final Agreement in violation of SCRCF Rule 43(k). All suggestions made by the appellant were disallowed by the judge in favor of the other parties except for the extension of deadlines to pay debts.
11. Only three parties were present during the judge-mediated conference. Respondent Jared Adam Pierce, who lives in Finland, another jurisdiction, was not present. He only agreed to his share of inheritance but did not provide his express consent to the rest of the Settlement terms. He was not available to agree to the rest of the terms of the agreement.
12. Judge Singleton provided the only signature on this settlement order. The only possible way that this settlement under SCRCF Rule 43(k) could have been binding under these conditions is if it was signed by all parties. The judge-ordered settlement was not binding under SCRCF Rule 43(k) or under any standard for a Settlement Agreement.
13. Respondent Donna Moore misrepresented the value of the 3.9 acres she would be inheriting as bottom land. The judge further spoke in favor of respondents Gregory Pierce and Donna Moore getting more than 16 acres of land, 3.99 acres, and \$20,000 respectively because the respondents' shares were bottom land. This is not true, and the judge should have remained impartial.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review applicable to cases originating in the probate court is controlled by whether the underlying cause of action is at law or in equity. *Howard v. Mutz*, 315 S.C. 356, 361-62, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257-58 (1993). Appellant states that this is an action at law. *NationsBank of S.C. v. Greenwood*, 321 S.C. 386, 392, 468 S.E.2d 658, 662 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding an action to construe a will is an action at law). If a proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, review by this court extends merely to the correction of legal errors. *Townes Assocs. Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976), abrogated on other grounds by, *In re Estate of Kay*, 423 S.C. 476, 816 S.E.2d 542 (2018).

VI. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The Probate Court entered a ruling on August 18, 2021, setting aside the last will and testament of the Appellant's husband, Doyle Elton Pierce. This order also removed the Appellant as personal representative of the estate. Subsequently, the Appellant filed a Motion for a New Trial with the Probate Court and a Notice of Appeal with the Circuit Court on August 23, 2021. Thereafter, she filed an Amended Motion for a New Trial. On October 1, 2021, the now-suspended Probate Court Judge Kenneth Johns conducted a hearing for the Motion for a New Trial and denied it on his last day in office.

The Appellant then appealed to the Circuit Court, which declined to review the appeal because she was not an attorney. Consequently, the Circuit Court denied the Appellant's appeal. She then appealed this order to the South Carolina Court of Appeals (Case No. 2021-001552). The Respondent, through his attorney, filed a motion to strike the Appellant's appeal, but it was denied. This case is currently pending determination or oral argument as deemed necessary by the Court of Appeals.

Despite the pending appeal, Probate Judge Ashaley Rice held an illegal hearing in July 2022 to appoint a special administrator for the estate. During this hearing, the judge acknowledged that the Appellant had preserved the assets of the estate but still restrained her and appointed Adam Lee as the special administrator. Judge Rice stated on record that the Appellant had committed no wrongdoing. Nevertheless, she acted outside her jurisdiction by restraining the Appellant and appointing a special administrator with plenary powers.

Due to the pending appeal, the special administrator, Adam Lee, was constrained in performing his duties. The Appellant's constant objections to Lee's appointment aggravated Judge Danny Singleton when he took office in June 2023. Adam Lee filed a petition seeking a declaratory judgment on several matters related to the estate, most of which were outside the Probate Court's jurisdiction. The Appellant opposed Lee's petition, stating that his appointment was unlawful and violated her due process rights, rendering his position null and void.

On October 11, 2023, during a status conference, Adam Lee resigned from his position due to difficulties in executing his assignment. This resignation occurred on the same day that Lee called for a status conference in front of Judge Danny Singleton of the Oconee County Probate Court.

Following Lee's resignation, Judge Danny Singleton pressured all parties to settle the estate, despite knowing that an appeal was pending in the Court of Appeals. Judge Singleton initiated a settlement discussion, explicitly stating on the court recordings that the proceedings were not in open court. Accordingly, he acted as the mediator/arbitrator during these discussions.

Judge Singleton repeatedly threatened that if the parties did not settle soon, he would order the sale of all estate assets and distribute the cash as soon as the Appellant's appeal was denied. The Appellant resides at the estate, so this threat essentially meant selling her residence.

During the status conference, the judge exerted undue pressure on the Appellant to reach a settlement. Statements made by respondents during the proceeding suggested there had been ex parte conversations leading to the status conference. Judge Singleton's pressure led to a hurried acceptance of parts of an agreement, jeopardizing the voluntariness of the agreement.

Judge Singleton made comments that the Appellant's expressions were animating the court, even when she was not speaking. When the Appellant disagreed with the parties about their monetary demands, Judge Singleton asked how long she had been married to her husband. She responded, "two years and eight months." The judge then commented that the estate litigation had lasted longer than her marriage, discrediting her position in the estate.

On October 11, 2023, respondents Gregory Pierce, Donna Carol Moore, and the Appellant initiated a partial Settlement Agreement before Judge Singleton. Respondent Jared Adam Pierce was absent for most of the discussion. He was briefly called on a video app by respondent Donna Moore to confirm if he agreed to his share of the settlement, which included 8.86 acres of land, two guitars with amps, and 20 guns with ammunition. He said yes but was not asked about other clauses or the distribution to other heirs. Jared Adam Pierce exited the video call and did not sign the Settlement Agreement, nor did his attorney sign on his behalf.

The opposing counsel for respondents Gregory A. Pierce and Jared Adam Pierce sent a draft order to the judge, including several clauses not discussed in the mediated settlement. These clauses included removal of items, tenant of mobile home located at 745 Mourning Dove Lane, future documents, mutual release, right of notice of auction, trash disposal, and notices. This draft did not include provisions for parties to sign the Settlement Agreement, only for the judge to sign, contrary to the court's statements that the gathering was not an open court.

The Appellant informed all parties that she disagreed with certain terms of the final order draft and was preparing her submissions and comments. She argued that new clauses not declared in the purported open court and the lack of compliance with SCRCP Rule 43(k) rendered the settlement invalid. Respondent's attorney sent an email claiming that the settlement was binding and enforceable regardless of the appeal because it was an extrajudicial settlement, which was misleading.

The Appellant sent her own version of the order draft, including a clause for "No Admission of Guilt or Liability." This clause was essential for a contested estate like this one. The opposing parties and the judge rejected the Appellant's suggestions and adopted the draft order sent by opposing counsel.

On October 12, 2023, Judge Singleton signed a settlement order entitled "Order Affirming Private Family Agreement," without consideration of the rule of law or the unresolved matters. The Appellant appealed the order on October 13, 2023.

During a phone call on October 16, 2023, Judge Singleton refused all suggestions made by the Appellant except for extending the dates for debt payment. He reiterated that the Appellant had litigated the estate longer than her marriage, ignoring the fact that the will contest was initiated by the respondents. The judge amended his previous order on October 17, 2023, despite the pending appeal, rendering his amended order invalid.

The amended order removed the mutual release clause, exposing the parties to future conflicts. The Appellant attempted to explain the necessity of a proper mutual release clause for such a contested estate, but the judge arrogantly stated there was no need for it. The next day, respondents started claiming the GEICO settlement, part of the estate residue and the Appellant's inheritance.

Both the October 12 and October 17, 2023, orders reappointed the Appellant as personal representative. On October 19, 2023, the Probate Court reappointed the Appellant, who was required to sign a Personal Representative Affidavit, violating the settlement order. The affidavit stated that assets could not be distributed before debts were paid, yet the settlement order directed otherwise.

Judge Singleton ordered the Appellant to withdraw her appeal from the Court of Appeals (Appellate Case No. 2021-001552) and another appeal in the Court of Common Pleas (Case No. 2023-CP-37-00685). He also ordered the Appellant to pay estate debts with her own money or inheritance. The withdrawal of the Appellant's appeal was contingent upon a properly executed settlement agreement, which did not exist.

Judge Singleton threatened to remove the Appellant as personal representative in retaliation for her appeal and harassed her family member who delivered the amended Notice of Appeal. On October 24, 2023, Judge Singleton instructed the Appellant not to act on estate items until further notice, then accused her of violating the order and her fiduciary duties.

The judge scheduled a hearing *sua sponte* on November 1, 2023, to remove the Appellant as personal representative. He found her in contempt and fined her \$500 or 30 days in jail, despite multiple parties talking out of turn during the hearing. He removed the Appellant from her position without a formal petition, violating due process.

Under South Carolina law, estate assets must be distributed only after debts are settled (S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-805). The Probate Court's actions violated this law, as the estate assets were designated to heirs without settling debts.

The Appellant had appealed Judge Singleton's October 12, 2023, order on October 13, 2023. Thus, the court lacked jurisdiction to issue the October 17, 2023, order, making it invalid. Furthermore, the Probate Judge did not have the authority to amend a judgment more than 10 days old under SCRCP Rule 59(e).

Immediately after the hearing and before drafting an order to remove the Appellant, the court called her auctioneer to stop a scheduled auction, violating the settlement agreement. The agreement stipulated that the Appellant had the authority to schedule an auction to pay estate debts. Judge Singleton's actions were a breach of the agreement and an act of retaliation.

Respondents Gregory Alan Pierce and Jared Adam Pierce filed a motion to dismiss without addressing any portions of the Appellant's appeal brief. In their motion, respondents fraudulently claimed that the Appellant had failed to make satisfactory arrangements for the furnishing of the probate court transcript within the 10-day requirement. This assertion was false, as the Appellant had requested the probate court audio multiple times on October 11, 2023, November 1, 2023,

November 7, 2023, and November 13, 2023. Additionally, the respondents falsely stated that the Appellant had not filed a Statement of Issues on Appeal, despite it being included in the brief of the Appellant. The Appellant had duly served the respondents with her initial brief within the stipulated timeline. Furthermore, the respondent's attorney made a derogatory remark, stating that he would use the Appellant's 66-page brief as toilet paper, indicating that he did not read the brief before filing a fraudulent motion to dismiss.

On March 14, 2024, the Circuit Court held a hearing on the appeal, presided over by Honorable Judge McIntosh. The judge did not review the evidence, refused to allow the Appellant's evidence, and accepted documents from the respondents' attorney. On March 20, 2024, the judge dismissed the Appellant's appeal based on fraudulent arguments presented by the respondents.

Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

VII. ARGUMENT

1. The Probate Court did not have jurisdiction to order a settlement while an appeal on the validity of the will of Doyle Elton Pierce was pending.

The fundamental question here is whether the Probate Court had the jurisdiction to order a settlement during the pendency of an appeal on the validity of Doyle Elton Pierce's will. The answer hinges on the principle of jurisdiction and the effect of an appeal on the lower court's authority. When an appeal is filed, it typically transfers jurisdiction from the lower court to the appellate court. This means that the lower court is generally divested of jurisdiction over matters that are the subject of the appeal. In this case, the appeal on the validity of the will of Doyle Elton Pierce was pending in the South Carolina Court of Appeals (Case No. 2021-001552). According to South Carolina law, once an appeal is perfected, the lower court loses jurisdiction over the matters under appeal, except for certain ancillary matters necessary to preserve the status quo or ensure the appeal's integrity. By ordering a settlement while the appeal on the validity of the will was pending, the Probate Court exceeded its jurisdiction. The settlement directly impacts the very issues under appellate review, namely, the distribution of assets and the validity of the will. Any decision made by the Probate Court in this context would be premature and potentially contradictory to the appellate court's determination. Therefore, the Probate Court's actions were beyond its authority and violated the principle that jurisdiction lies with the appellate court once an appeal is filed.

In *State v. Simons*, 263 S.C. 291, 210 S.E.2d 907 (1975), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the jurisdiction of the appellate court is exclusive upon the perfection of the appeal. Similarly, in *Ex parte McMillan*, 319 S.C. 331, 461 S.E.2d 43 (1995), it was affirmed that any substantive action taken by the lower court affecting the matter on appeal is null and void.

The Probate Court did not have jurisdiction to order a settlement while an appeal on the validity of the will of Doyle Elton Pierce was pending. The actions taken by Judge Danny Singleton were beyond the scope of the Probate Court's authority and violated established legal principles regarding jurisdiction and the effect of an appeal. Therefore, any orders or settlements made under these circumstances should be considered null and void, and the appellate court should address the validity of the will without interference from the lower court.

2. The Private Family Settlement Order Was Executed In Non-Compliance With; SCRCP; Rule 43(K).

The central issue is whether the Private Family Settlement Order issued by the Probate Court was executed in compliance with South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRCP) Rule 43(k). Rule 43(k) establishes the criteria for enforcing agreements made between parties during litigation. For such an agreement to be enforceable, it must be entered into, in an open court and recorded or reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel. SCRCP Rule 43(k) states: “No agreement between counsel affecting the proceedings in an action shall be binding unless it is reduced to the form of a consent order or written stipulation signed by counsel. It may be enforced summarily by motion in the pending action.” This rule ensures that agreements impacting litigation are documented and verifiable, protecting the parties' rights and maintaining judicial integrity. In this case, the Private Family Settlement Order did not comply with the mandates of SCRCP Rule 43(k) for several reasons:

- a) **Lack of Open Court Proceedings:** Judge Danny Singleton explicitly stated that the settlement discussions were not conducted in open court. The rule requires that agreements be made in open court to ensure transparency and accountability. The settlement discussions, as noted in the court recordings, were conducted informally, with the judge acting as a mediator rather than in a judicial capacity in open court.
- b) **Absence of Written Agreement Signed by Parties:** In addition to the settlement discussions not happening in an open court, the judge told respondent Jared Adam Pierce, before he exited the video call, that he would be sent an agreement to sign and return. No party signed the agreement, and no document was sent/mailed to respondent Jared Adam Pierce to sign. The agreement was not executed in compliance with SCRCP Rule 43(k). The settlement agreement was not reduced to a written form signed by all parties and their counsel. The judge was the only one who signed the settlement order. Rule 43(k) requires that such agreements be documented and signed to be binding. The absence of signatures from the parties and their attorneys invalidates the settlement's enforceability under this rule. Despite attempts by the respondent's attorney to invoke SCRCP Rule 43(k), the parties did not adopt it, and the discussion was not in open court, requiring signatures pursuant to other provisions of SCRCP Rule 43(k).

- c) **Unauthorized Clauses and Lack of Consent:** The final settlement order included several clauses that were not discussed or agreed upon during the mediated discussions. These additions were made without the parties' knowledge or consent, further violating the principles of Rule 43(k), which necessitates that the agreement be mutually acknowledged and agreed upon by all involved parties.
- d) **Undue Pressure and Voluntariness of Agreement:** Judge Singleton repeatedly stated that if the parties didn't settle, he would order the sale of all estate assets and distribute the cash as soon as the Appellant's appeal was denied by the Court of Appeals. Furthermore, the judge's predictions about the outcome of the appeal without knowing its evidence compromised the fairness of the proceedings. The undue pressure exerted by Judge Singleton on the Appellant to reach a settlement further undermines the validity of the agreement. The Appellant was placed under duress, and the judge's threats to order the sale of estate assets if no settlement was reached compromised the voluntariness of the agreement. This coercive environment contravenes the spirit of Rule 43(k), which assumes that agreements are made freely and without undue influence.
- e) **Incomplete Participation:** Only three parties were present during the judge-mediated conference. Respondent Jared Adam Pierce, who lives in Finland, was not present. He only agreed to his share of inheritance via a brief video call initiated by respondent Donna Moore and did not provide express consent to the rest of the settlement terms. He was unavailable to agree to the remaining terms of the agreement, further violating SCRCP Rule 43(k).

In *Ashfort v. Palmetto State Life Insurance Co.*, the court emphasized that settlements must be clear, documented, and mutually agreed upon following procedural rules to be enforceable. The case underscored the necessity for clear documentation and mutual consent in settlement agreements. In *Pittman v. Daniel Construction Co.*, the court ruled that any deviation from the prescribed procedural requirements renders a settlement agreement unenforceable. This case highlighted the importance of strict adherence to procedural rules.

South Carolina courts have consistently refused to enforce settlement agreements that fail to meet the strict compliance required by SCRCP Rule 43(k). This rule mandates that agreements affecting litigation must either be entered into the court's record, acknowledged in open court, or

reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel. Where SCRCP; Rule 43(k) applies, South Carolina Courts have held its terms are mandatory, which precludes a party from turning to contract or equitable principles (or counter public policy arguments) to vitiate those terms. Substantial compliance is not sufficient. The purpose of SCRCP; Rule 43(k) and its predecessors is the avoidance of uncertainty.

In *South Carolina Human Affairs Commission, Appellant, v. Zeyi Chen & Zhirong Yang, Respondents*. Appellate Case No. 2018-001879, the South Carolina Supreme court affirmed the findings of the circuit court that; “SCRCP; Rule 43(k) provides several avenues for enforcement of a settlement agreement, and parties may withdraw their assent any time before one of the alternatives for obtaining enforcement is met”. The Supreme court agreed with the circuit court's ruling. SCRCP; Rule 43(k) provides in relevant part as follows: “No agreement between counsel affecting the proceedings in an action shall be binding unless [1] reduced to the form of a consent order or written stipulation signed by counsel and entered in the record, or [2] unless made in open court and noted upon the record, or [3] reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel”.

SCRCP; Rule 43(k). (emphasis added). is applicable to settlement agreements. *Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Constr. Grp., Inc.*, 318 S.C. 492, 494, 458 S.E.2d 533, 535 (1995). "Like former Circuit Court Rule 14 on which it is based, SCRCP; Rule 43(k) is intended to prevent disputes as to the existence and terms of agreements regarding pending litigation." *Id.* at 493–94, 458 S.E.2d at 534.

In *S.C. Human Affairs Comm'n v. Chen*, Op. No. 27988 (S.C.Sup.Ct. filed July 22, 2020) (Shearhouse Adv.Sh. No. 29 at 8). The Commission asserted “the circuit court erred in failing to enforce the settlement agreement here because (1) the agreement would be enforceable under general contract principles, as it was signed by the parties, so it should be deemed binding; (2) equitable principles support enforcement, as it is clear the parties agreed to the settlement at the conclusion of mediation and Respondents later changed their minds before the consent order was entered on the record; and (3) public policy supports enforcement because to require strict compliance with the conditions in SCRCP; Rule 43(k) to secure enforcement could lead to mischief, as attorneys could intentionally fail to sign agreements to retain the strategic option of

rescinding the agreement at a later date. As a matter of public policy and to avoid disputes over settlements, SCRCP; Rule 43(k)) sets forth several methods for making a settlement agreement binding and enforceable”.

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