RECEIVED

Jul 22 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Judge

Case No. 2023-CP-37-00794
Appellate Case No. 2024-000455

Dorothy Pierce,

Appellant,

v.

Donna Carol Moore, Gregory Allan Pierce,
and Jared Adam Pierce,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS GREGORY ALLAN PIERCE
AND JARED ADAM PIERCE

/s/ Richard Hunt McDuff
Richard Hunt McDuff, Esq.
SC Bar No. 76242
Merrell & McDuff
(MJM Law, LLC)
119-B Professional Park Drive
Seneca, South Carolina 29678
Tel: (864) 882-2466
*Attorney for Respondents Gregory Allan Pierce
and Jared Adam Pierce*

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE THE APPELLANT FAILED TO TIMELY APPEAL THE APRIL 2, 2024, JUDGMENT OF THE PROBATE COURT.

On March 19, 2024, the Circuit, acting in its appellate capacity, entered a Form 4 Order affirming the Probate Court's Orders Affirming Private Family Agreement because (a) the Appellant and the Respondents entered into a binding settlement agreement made in open court and noted upon the record in accordance with Rule 43(k), SCRPC, and (b) because the Appellant failed to comply with the strict procedural requirements set forth in *S.C. Code Ann.* § 52-1-308. The Form 4 Order directed the undersigned to file a formal Order setting forth the Court's ruling.

In South Carolina, as a general rule, only final orders are appealable. Culbertson v. Clemens, 322 S.C. 20, 23, 417 S.E. 2d 163, 164 (1996). When "there is some further act which must be done by the court prior to a determination of the rights of the parties, then the order is interlocutory" and not appealable. Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Imports, Inc., 310 S.C. 330, 335, 426 S.E. 2d 777, 780 (1993). Pursuant to South Carolina law, the March 19, 2024, Form 4 Order is not, by its own terms, a Final Order of the Circuit Court that is appealable to this Court. Judge McIntosh's Form 4 Order expressly directed counsel for the Respondents to prepare and file a formal order, which was then entered by the Court on April 2, 2024.

The deadline for the Appellant to file a Notice of Appeal from the April 2, 2024, Order was May 2, 2024. The Appellant did not file a Notice of Appeal within the deadline and, as a result, her appeal should be dismissed.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE SETTLEMENT BETWEEN AND THE ORDERS AFFIRMING THE PRIVATE FAMILY AGREEMENT.

The Appellant challenges the Circuit Court's ruling that she entered into a binding settlement agreement on October 11, 2023, in accordance with Rule 43(k), SCRPC, to settle all issues involving the Estate of Doyle Elton Pierce. Without record evidence or support, the Appellant argues that the agreement was not made in "open court" because Judge Singleton had not formally convened the Probate Court and that he was acting in the capacity of a mediator rather than judge.

Rule 43(k), SCRPC, provides that enforceable agreements may be made between the parties to litigation when made in open court and noted upon the record. Rule 43(k) is applicable to settlement agreements. Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Construction Group, Inc., 318 S.C. 492, 494, 458 S.E. 2d 533, 534 (1995). A settlement agreement read into the record in open court is enforceable under Rule 43(k) when the material terms of the agreement are present. Cheap-O's Truck Stop, Inc. v. Cloyd, 350 S.C. 596, 603-604, 567 S.E. 2d 514, (Ct. App. 2002).

The record in the present case clearly establishes that the Appellant entered into a binding settlement agreement on October 11, 2023, pursuant to Rule 43(k), SCRPC, when the Appellant and the Respondents read an agreement into the record before Judge Danny Singleton in his capacity as Oconee County Probate Judge. It is beyond cavil that all material terms related to the division of the estate property between the heirs, the responsibility for the payment of any estate obligations, and the dismissal of all probate-related appeals was placed onto the record. (GoTranscript

of October 11, 2023, p._____) ⁴ The parties clearly and unequivocally agreed upon the division of real property, personal property, vehicles, firearms, farm implements, and the payment of estate creditors. (GoTranscript of October 11, 2023, p._____) It was plainly expressed on the record that the settlement was be placed onto the record pursuant to Rule 43(k), and the Appellant expressed her assent to the terms. During the October 11, 2023, proceeding, Judge Singleton directly asked the Appellant the following question and the Appellant gave the following response:

Judge Singleton: We've already established that your brother [sic], by video, was in agreement. Ms. Pierce, are you in agreement?

Appellant: Yes, I am.

(GoTranscript of October 11, 2023, p._____)

As a result, the settlement agreement placed onto the record on October 11, 2023, is binding and enforceable, the litigation has ended, and the Appellant's issues on appeal are moot. Cheap-O's Truck Stop, Inc. v. Cloyd, 350 S.C. at 603.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT IT WAS DIVESTED OF JURISDICTION BECAUSE OF THE APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE APPELLATE PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-1-308.

Appeals from an order of the Probate Court are governed by *S.C. Code Ann.* § 62-1-308(a). Pursuant to section 62-1-308(b), the Appellant was required to file a Statement of Issues on Appeal with the clerk of the circuit court within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the order from which an appeal is taken. In her Notice of Appeal,

⁴ The "GoTranscript" is, ostensibly, a transcription the Appellant had prepared by Amazon Web Services from the Probate Court audio recording and made a part of the Record on Appeal on February 2, 2024. The Appellant never obtained an official transcription prepared by a court reporter.

the Appellant states that she received the order from which she appeals on October 12, 2023. Consequently, she was required to file her Statement of Issues on Appeal by November 27, 2024, but failed to do so. Instead, she filed her Appeal Brief with the Circuit Court on November 29, 2023.

Section 62-1-308(d) required the Appellant, within thirty (30) days after service of her Statement of Issues on Appeal, to serve upon all other parties a Designation of Matter to be Included in the Record on Appeal. The Appellant did file a Designation on December 11, 2023, but did so without having first complied with the mandates of section 62-1-308(b). Likewise, the Appellant failed to make “satisfactory arrangements” for the furnishing of the transcript of the October 11, 2023, proceeding within ten (10) days of service of her Notice of Appeal as required by section 62-1-308(c). Instead, on February 2, 2024, the Appellant submitted a “GoTranscript” version of a transcript of proceedings for October 11, 2023.

The mandatory language contained in section 62-1-308 is clear and unequivocal. Each provision in the statute states the appellant or the parties “must” or shall.” The Appellant’s failure to strictly comply with the procedural requirements set forth in *S.C. Code Ann.* §§ 62-1-308(b), (c), and (d) divested the Circuit Court of appellate jurisdiction. *In re Estate of Cretzmeyer*, 365 S.C. 12, 615 S.E. 2d 116 (2005) (appellant’s failure to comply with the procedural requirements for an appeal under *S.C. Code Ann.* § 62-1-308 divested the court of appellate jurisdiction).

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the Respondents, Gregory Allan Pierce and Jared Adam Pierce, respectfully request this Court to affirm the judgment of the Circuit Court rendered on April 2, 2024, and to dismiss the appeal. The Appellants do not respond to the remainder of the numerous issues raised by the Appellant as they are spurious and without record support.